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THE PEOPLE'S TESTIMONY. 

BENNETT SOUTHAR D, amdtness called on 

behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOWE: 

Q You are County Judge, sir, of Putnam County? A 

And also an attorney and counselor at law? A Yes, a 

Q And you have acted as the Attorney for ahester Smith, 

of Cold Spring, New York, the complainant in this case? 

A Yes, sir, many times. 

Q And you, on the 9th of April, of this Year, 

.ixiday, were his attorney? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you come around that day to see the defendant 

Fleckenheimer? A I saw the gereman who, is sitting tke 

.yes, the defendant (indicating). 

Q Indicating the defendant? -A Yes, sir. 

Where was it that you saw him? A At 'e.)5 Fifth, 

avenue, Room 10, New York City. 

Was the complaining witness there? A Yes, Sir, 

Chester Smith? A Chester Stith was present. 

Was he present during your Whole interview with the 

defendant? A No. 

C Was any one else present? A There was another 

gentleman with Mr. Fleckenheimer. 

Another man, who Came with Mr. Fleckenheimer? A Yes; 
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his name now I don't recall. 

(I Was the matter of a gray horse discussed there? 

A The matter of the purchase cf a horse by Cheater• 

from. the defendant was discussed between all parties. 

Q And was there a discussion of money there? 

was 

Q, Did the defendant give you,' 150? A did. 

Q And did you give that to the complainant, Chester 

Smith? A I gave it to Mr. Smith, and he signed a receipt, 

and the receipt I mailed to the defendan 

Q Now did you hear of a conversation that lead up-tb 

the giving of that $150? A Yes, sir. 

Q Can you state the substance of that conversation? 

A Might I go back a day or two before, so as to c1404 Up 

to it? 

R. MORGAN: Now, I object' if Your Honor please, - 

to anything that took place In t'Q±*0,17eTle:IA)..th,0 rattail 

subsequent to the date named in the indictment. 

THE COURT: Well; this may be a statement of an 

admission by the defendant, that wou3d have to be sub-

sequent to the date of the transaction. When was the 

indictment? The 24th of November? 

MR. HOWE: Yes, sir. 

ME COURT: I will allow nothing to be testified to, 

except what took place in the presence of the defendant, 



so far as admissions are concerned. This testlmen. 

:seems to be that of an admission. 

MR. HOWEt That is what it isoffered for, 

admission-by the defendant. 

TILE COURT": Well) only testify what was said 

or done by the defendant) or what was done or said.by you.: 

or anyone else in his presence. i will overrule your 

objection, Mr. Morgan, and give,you an exception. 

MR. MORGAN: I take an exception. 

MR. HOWE: I withdraw that question, for the present. 

BY KR. HOWE: 

Q Had you seen the defendant Yleekenheimer before 

day? A Never. 

Q Well now if you will state please, at this tiMft* 

what conversation--what Fleekenheimer said and What'conv.eri-

sation there was in Fleckenheimeris presence about the 

$150 that was finally given? A My best recollection 

Mr. Fleekenheimer and his friend mot. Mr. Smith at my office 

by appointment. 

BY THE COURT: 

q There is your offiae? A At-Fifth avenue, No. 65. 

And a general discussion took place between all of the partiee 

present, as to the question of a delivery of this horse to 

Mr. Smith, or the payment of the money which Mr. Smith had 

paid to ?leakenheimer, and his additional expenses, whatever he 
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might have been put to. 

Mr. Fleckenheimer finally offered first, mr, 

teimsr offered to split the difference between the $3.10' 

horse and a $75 horse, another horse. To that Mr. Smith 

demurred, saying that, of course, that wouldn t'repay hirn 

for even the money which he had given-the defendant. 

Mr. Smith finally figured out the value of the horse) 

and the value of keep of this other. horse) on which he claisted. 

he had lost money, and his railroad fares, , being croMPellett 

to COMA to New York several times and his hotel bill' at 

something over $200. my impression is that I took the pane; 

and, adding the figures together, suggested that there b 

split, that the difference be split. 

Mr. Smith made this claim for expenses) and Mr. nee*ens. 

heimer said that he was willing to repay him for what be 

paid for the horse and his expenses. Mr. ileckenheiMer 

would not agree to that. Said that was more money *0104 

he could raise, more money than he had) arid I think sad that 

the money--that, if he could adjust this matter, be Would have 

to borrow the money and, Tinally Mr. Fleckenheimer and Mr. 

Smith agree-d that $150 would be the figures whiCh would re.-

imburse mt. Smith or the $110 that he had given the defendant4 

and the expenses that he had been put to in aonneotion with 

the horses. 

Q Now, in the course of the interview, were the events 
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at the time of the sale of that horse, that gray hare 

they discussed, in your hearing4between Mr, Smit) 

heimer? A Well, don't. exactly understand the 

9, Did you hear Mr. Smith say anything 'la 

heimer about the condition of that gray horse? 

MR. MORGAN: Oh, if your Honor please, I0 

Will you have the other witnesses eicluded Whi 

Judge is testifying'? 

THE COURT: They are all out,. HT4ey have bee*, 

eluded.. It is my rule to exclude all witness014 WW* 

trial before me.. 

Vquestion repeated by the stenographer)?. 

• was some talk between Mr. Fleckehheinter'and.Wii 

' of--if I might use the expression kocuzgi eachlAt. 
the fact that they were both horse dealers, and th4t-

Pleckenheimer said that Mr. Smith shouldn't feel badi 

had got bit in a horse trade--something Of that character 

That is my recollection. And my further votollemtion is thW 

Mr. Smith asked Mr. 7leckenheimer what was the matter 1,441%. 

horse, and I couldn't say positively--

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Well, state the substance of your Tecrollectiqn1lberlik 

A The substance is that Mr. Smith asked neakenhetmer no 

thing about whether he had used sponges on the horse' atati: 

that, in some instances) they were placed in the horeseivncOttil,* 



and nockenheimer said no; and then he fur 071 

conversation, made some reference-74 couldn't de 

what it was that there was sonmthing in the hOreti,, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. Who said that there wa,ssomething in the ho 

neck? A Mr. Fleckenheim4r. That Is my reenileatic* 

BY R. HOWE: 

Q Was there anything said in the conversation, as 

whether or not Fleckenheimer had the gray horse stall 

time of the conversation, on Good 7riday? A Yes; 

Fleckenheimer saidl I think that he still had the 110Vs01,. 

Now what other matters in that convereat q; 

recall? A Well, I couldn't remordher definitel 

recalled it to my mind. 

Q Did Mr. Fleckenheimar say anything about what 

that gray horse for? A Not that 1 remen4e1,0 

9, Now, Iudge, on the Wednesday Treceding that kroo' 

did you come to the District Attorney's office? .A Y004 4 

q And lid you there see Mr. Notts the acting.Distri 

Attorney and myself? A Yes, Sir. 

q And did you have a conversation with us? A 

I did. 

9, Was there at any time during that conversatioircen 0' 

Friday, at your office, any promise made.by anybOdy'not to 

prosecute in this case/ A No, air. 



BY THE COURT:. 

Was that Rod Friday of this year 

week. 

'CROSS EXAMINATION BY :MR. MORGAN: 

Q Judge, you say that it is a fact that this Man 

client was a horse dealer? A Yes sir.. 

Q And has been for quite..a nuMber of years? A, _ W11* 

my recollection is4 knowing him very well, he has been a dealeV? 

for the past five or six years anyway. 

,r.For the past five or Six years? A Yes, air  

You say you have represented hima goo 

I suppose it was with reference to horse 

instances?, A Never before but once. 

trades irt 

But once? A Yes, sir, in relation to 

(1 In reference to a horse deal? A 

But in several other litigated matters you re 

him? A Yes. He has property. have representedJa0" 

in property interests. 

Q Did you ever see any of his advertisements OV ors* 

sales up there? A Oh, I have seen the% but not ,to rsoogn. 

them or remember them; but I would say 'that, if. bAlltaple 114 

printed at the bottom of a bill for an auatior0040 

it was one of his horse bills. 

Well, he also deals in live stock, *(101111 anA.Sbe 
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should call him a general 

.q And 'then you would not call him a 

Oh, yes, he has extensive farming- interee44-

(I Well but beyond that he has coVmercial 

A Yes. 

11 Now, you say that after this money Was pA1i4:0 

a jocular period of conversation between Smith and the 

joking each other about one horse dealer gettin the beg 

another horse dealer? A That is true,, sir.„ 

Q, And it was in the course of this joking, and aTt 

money had been paid over, and everything was agreeable,i th 

wollid you 

Smith said, "Did you put some sponges in the horsdlef't 

Or something of that kind in a jocular way? A Well-

speak of it in that manner, but it was after the adj144401 
,7F 

of their differences that the conversation as to What rf 

matter with the horse took place. 

Q, 

• 

Now, as I understand it, Xudgel yoUr.clie#t 

two horses, practicallyrat the same time a bay, horse ancl D' 

gray horse? A He had so told me. 

And he had taken up the bay :horse with him, atild-

thoroughly satisfied with it? A Well: that I couldn't 

sir. 

(I Well, he had taken it with him? A 'Ye's. 

Q, And he was thoroughly pleased with that bgy4Orge? 

MR. HOWE: I wish to suggest yaur Honors Xá 
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him ntrthing of this kind in the direct exdk 

I only put him ontoprove matters in the' ha; 

RR. MORGAN: Then I am through. I 

ask any more question. 

(The Court then admonished the jury in.#000 

with Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedute*, 

adjourned the further trial of the case to Wednesday 

morning, April 14th, 1909, at 10:300 
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RI CHARD 

• 
TRIAL RESUMED, 

New York, April 14th 

J. FLYNN, a.witness called on behalf 

Of the People, being duly sworn testified as follow: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BYMR. HOWE: 

q You area member of the Police Force of VAW York 

City, are you not, Flynn? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you see the defendant Fleckenheimerfon the 31st 

day of August, 1908? A I did. 

Q, And at the stable 300--

MR. MORGAN: Nowldonit lead him. I ObjeCt,'. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

4, 

Well, lere did you see him? •A 304 Bast 95th. 

In the City and County of New York? A Yes, sir. 

Who, if anybodylwas with you when you went to that 

stable? A A gent1em4n by the name of Chester  Smith. 

(1 Whom you know to be the complainant in this case?_ 

A Yes, sir. 

("), Well, what was said and done there. in the presence of 

the defendant Fleckenheimer? 

MR. MORGAN: I object to that, as immaterial, 

irrelevant, and incompetent. 

TI A COURT: well, I will overrule the objection, 

for the present. This is laying the basis for the ptOoto 

• 
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If it is not material and relevant, 

outi but,we will hear it now., 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

gi Now state what was said and done:at that stable, in the. 

presence of the defendant 7leckenheimer,  on that day? A Thin . 

complainant, Chester Smith, cams tome-.-

Q NO. Now wait a second, Officer. Don't state PAY 

thing that was said and done when the defendant WAS not'there.-

12 

will be stricken 

YOu met Smith? A Ye, sir. 

Q And went with him to the stable? A Yes, sir. 

And what was said and dome after you got to the stable. 

aftsr you got into the presence of this defendant Fleskep. 

heimer? A Chester Smith, the complainant, in the presenee of 

the defendant, asked for the retuxn,bf his money. .He refuted. 

Q The defendant refused.? A Yes, sir. 

MR. MORGAN: Your Honor Understands I object't0 all 

this? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Now, go on, officer? A And then Chester Smith, 

the complainant, asked for the horse, and the defendant said 

that there was six dollars expenses due for the, keep of the 

horse, and Chester Smith, the complainant, as near as I Can re-

member—it is quite a while ago--refused at first to give the 
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Six dollars, but, in about three or five minute' 

giVe the six dollars. Then the defendant refUeed: 

the  SIX dollars. 

Did Smith offer six dollars? A Yes, 

the six dollars and then the defendant refused to take t 

six dollars. 

Q, Did you see any horses there? A. Yes, there were 

several horses. 

What did Smith do if you know / A Smith went Up 

the stall of .one--to one of the stalls, and placed hie ha 

on the horse. 

• 

know. 

Q And what did the defendant d A That 

Q That you don't know? )k known what-he 'done then:. 

q Well, were you there? A Yes, I was there. 

Well, is it a case of not remembering —what yOU 

or of nor seeing? A I don't believe I seen him do anyth$11 

Q, You saw the complainant go up And place his head AiltV 

a horse? A Yes, sir, but he went on the off side from Me. 

Q And where was the defendant when Smith went to that 

stall? A He was right close to hilt, at the stall. 

Q Right close to Smith? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did you see Smith get either any horse or any men 

A No, sir. 
•••• 

Q And what did you sply to the defendant 7leekehheilePrt 
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anything? A Well, simply what I have just stated. 

Q Well, what did you say to Fleckenheimer? A Isaid,. 

"This man claims that he bought a horse here  and he wants 

it," and he said, "He owes nm six dollars livery. Then, it 

I recollect rightly, I said to Mr. Smith the complainant, 

"Pay the six dollars livery," and, after a few minutes, he 

out the six dollars to pay, and Fleckenheimer, as I sAid before,  

refused the six dollars. Then I said to the officer- to the 

defendant, "Tbu will either give him the horse or.the money,” 

and he refused, and then I placed him Under arres 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MORGAN: 

You knew nothing yourself about the"tr4011404 

self, Mr. Officer? A Sir? 

q (question repeated)? A No, I.didnit‘ witness the trans 

action, the sale of the horse. 

Q This complainant met you on the.streett. about where 

was it? A Between 94th and 95th streets,On Second avenueilk 

(1 And told you--how long. before did be say he, had this 

transaction with the defendant? A Tilrem days, I believer.. 

About three days before that) he had the horse träs 

action? A Yes, sir -

And you want to this stable With him, and you'to14 this 

defendant that he must either give him back the horse--

A That's right. 

0 Or give him back the money? A That's right. 



You were sitting in judgmOnt upon this--

MR. HOWE: I object to the queition. 

MR. MORGAN: I withdraw the question* 

CHESTE R S /4 I T Hp a witness called on behalf Of t 

People, being duly sworn testified as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOVE: 

MT. Smith will you keep up your Voic 

these gentlemen can hear your answers?  Where 

A Cold Spring on the Hudson. 

In Putnam Coun:t3t, New York, State? 

New York. 

BY THE COURT: 

Well, what County, he said? A Oh) P 

(:), New York State? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

q Did you ever see this defendant? Plockenheimet? 

Q., Yes? A Yes. 

Q, When did you first see him? A I think it was ott the 

27th of August, of last year: 

Q 2908? A Yes, sir. 

tit= 0 Ill'ity4;. 

Q Where did you see him? A Well, at a 'stable that he 

pretended to be the proprietor of, 

9, Now wait a second. Well strike that out. Vhere 

that stable? A I think it was in 95th street. 



Q East or Test? A East, 

Flynn? 

a 

In the City and County of New York? 

Do you recollect the number? A I thi 

YOU subsequently visited that same stabilS4 

A Yes, sir. 

And it was the same Stable? A Yes sir.' 

Now what time of day did you go there, on the 27 

Mr, Smith? A It was before dinner, inthe Zorenaon toOs 

(1 In the forenoon? A Yes, sir. . 

Q And what did youssay to the defendant and what di 

defendant say to you, on the 27th? A Well, I went in the 
3 

stable--t had saw an ad/in tie paper that he had BOO' 

to sell--and I went in and asked for the.proprietor.etst 

and the man said he would be in in a minute.; and, w 

stood there, why, this Fleckenheimer, and the maft e 

is the boss," and I said I saw his ad in the Paper, e,'t 

to buy BOMB horses, and asked him-what h 

showed me several horses. 

Q, Go on? A He showed me several horses, and Z, 

several, and I picked out one gray Ilpiiset and ,I final). 

bargained for it, for $110. 

Q, Did you agree upon the price with the defendant:. 

Fleckenheimer for the gray horse? 4 Yea, for $110, 3t 

recommended the horse to be --

.MR. MORGA7: Now, wait a moment. If .etti'00110i, 



I would like to ask the witness a preliminarY figOit100 

at this time. 

THE COURT! You may do so. 

BY MR. MORGANq

 Wasn't the contract Entered into between 70U 4. 

this defendant reduced, to writing? A To answeml 

Q Didn't he give you a receipt for the $110, stating 

the terms on which he sold this horse to you., and wasn't 

that receipt turned over to the Magistrate? A Not that 

am--

THE COURT t Let him answer the question. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did you understand the question? A NO, 

Q, Did you get a receipt from him When you bought 

horse? A Yes, sir.. 

MR. HOWE: Now, I don't see what difference the 

receipt makes. 

MR. MORGAN: Of course, it does. It states the 

terms of the contract between the two, men, your Honor, 

and that is the best evidence. 

THE COURT: I will overrule your objection for the 

prezent. 

MR. MORGAN: I take an exception,. 

MR. HOWE: I will straighten this all out, at this 

time by one or two questions. 
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THE COURT: Well, that question is not obje tiona 

1114 MOM No, sir but I will ask him another 

question, 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q But you got a receipt mentioning that graY 

from Fleckenheimer? A I got a receipt, there 

yes. 

(I Now, how long did you keep that receipt? A Until 

the next day. 

And then where did the receipt go? A I bought an 

other horse. 

Q Well, where did the receip 

(1 He took it back? A Yes, 

Q, And And you agreed upon the Price of 4110? A 

Did you pay the defendant Fleckenheimer? A' 

him five dollars in cash, and my check for $105.. 

Where was your cheek drawn upon? A: Upon the 

National Bank, at Cold spring) on the Hildson4 

Q That was for $105? A Yes sir. 

go? A Re took, 

And then what was the understanding? A I wrote a 

receipt myself, saying "Received of Chester Smith MO* fOt  

one gray horse, warranted to be true in all harness and good 

wind " and Mr. 7leckenheimer signed it, and gave it tome. 

BY THE COURT: 

And that is the receipt you say was lost? A Not 0 1,4 



not Uost. I gave that back to Mr 

"AO. 

neckenheimers the next 

(I Well, have you seen it since? A "No, sr. 

BY 11011, HOWE: 

And what conversation was there about that Check 

which you gave him? A Well, after I gave him my check, 

and he gave me this receipt, and I put At in my pocket, 

I was ready to take the horse, and this man says--

.Q This defendant? A This defendant says, "You are 

a stranger, and I don't know whether your check la any good 

or not," and I said, "Very well. I'll come back in the morn-

ing and bring you the bills, if you give ma the check back,. 

and I will give you the money. And so I went allan and 

went home. Next morning, I went to the bank and drew out 

$500, and I came down, and went to the stable, and Plecken-

heimer was there. 

(I Now you left that gray horse in the stable, overnight? 

A Yes, sir. 

In Fleckenheimerls stable? A Yes, sir. And I said 

to him, "I have got the money. Give me the check, and I'll 

give you the $105," and he says, "Your cheek is all right," 

and spoke about some more horses. 

Now, you didn't give him any more money for the gray 

horse? A No, sir. 

He accepted your check? A Yes, sir. 
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And I looked  over some horses, some Which I saw, yesterday 

or the day .before, rather--and / finally bought one of thear 

for $75. 

Q And what kind of a horse was that? A Well it was 

a bay horse. It was a little lame, but--

11 Now never mind that. We will get to that later. 

What kind of a horse was it? Was it a bay horse? A Tu. 

It wasa bay horse, and a little lama, but warranted to be 

true in all harness and good wind, and I paid him $75 in 

bills for the second horse, the second day. 

"row," he says to me then "GiVe me that receipt 

I signed yesterday, and I'll put them both in one re00 

and so I handed it to'him, and then he wrote thereoeipt 

that I gave the District Attorney.' and he wrote it  

in German that I couldn't read it, and I Said* 'That dpes:this 

read?" I could read the top Of it, but not the bottom. 

And I said, "Is that true in all harness and good wind? 

And he said, "Yes. That's German, I can't write that in 

English." And so I accepted it in that way. 

Q, And is that the receipt that you got at that time 

(indicating)? A Yes., sir. 

MR. HOW,: I offer that receipt in evidence. 

MR. MORGAN: Let me see it please 

MR. HOWE: certainly. 

(It is admitted and marked People's Uhib t 1.) 



THE COURT: Thu had better have the inteTpreter* 

• 
THE NINTH JUROR: Your Honor I can read that, 

THE COUAT: Well, will you let the juror act Ms' 

interpreter, and read it, Mr. Morgan? 

MR. MORGAN: Certainly, yes. 

THE NINTH JUROR: This isn't German. All I can Make 

out is "Sold". 

THE COURT: Well, we had better get the interpreter. 

THE JUROR: It is English words, but German writ-

ing. It isn't German letters exactly. It is simply 

written in some German letters, and some in En Lib, 

"Sold a gray and bay horse, for the sum of $24.54. In 

full payment. Horses free of all ailments." 

MR. MORGAN: Free of all claims, is it not, Mr. 

Xuror? 

Ttug JUROR: No, of all claim. 
.* 

THE COURT: GC on. Which is it? Free of all claims 

or all ailments. 

THE JUROR: Free of all claims I think it is, and • 

I can't make out the rest of it, and I don't thinkany-

body else can. "Chattels", I think it is. 

TEA COURT: Is it "Chattels"? 

R. MORGAN: "And if not satisfactory will be 

exchanged,* I think it is. 
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THE COURT: Is it not "Chattels", Mr. Juror? 

THE JUROR: I don't know, sir. I can't unders 

it very weill and I don't think anybody can. 

MR. HOWE: Well, your Honor, the agreed reading 

is this: 

",New York, 26 Aug. 

Sold, one gray and one bay horse, for sum of $145. 

In full payment. Horses is free of all claims." And 

then the word, "Chandel," the agreed translation of that 

word being, "gentle." "If not, 

exchanged at any time. 

Fleckenheimer, 304 East 95th street." 

That is the agreed translation. 

MR. MORGAN: Yes, sir; we agree upon' that. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

(I Well, then what happened after you got this receipt 

from him? A Well, now, as I said here, that he told me that 

writing said, “True in all harness and good wind." 

MR. MORGAN: Now,. if your Honor please, I object 

to this, and move to strike it out. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

THE COURT: He said he did not understand the writ-

ing. That is for the jury to say, whether he did nr 

not. 
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1. MORGAJT: But hv contention is, your gong 

that the contract was reduced to writings 

cannot be "varied by parol evidence. 

THE COURT: We are not attempting to daterM 

a contract now. We are entitled to have all the tr 

action,. The principle is not properly stated b 

counsel, in a criminal case. 

R. MORGAN! Your Honor, of, cOrse  will give ne., 

an exception, with all respect:to the court? 

THE COURT: Yea, The whole contract is not in 

writing, according to he statement. 

BY MR. HOWE': 

Q Well, then, after this receipt wad given to 

what happened, Mr. Smith? GO on.fUrther:pleaBe? A 1 said 

to him that I wished to put the hordes aboard the 

Line, at the foot of Franklin street, that lands at Cold 

Spring, and asked him if he would furnish men and a rig 0 

that we could leave the horses there, and he Said he woul4. 

And so he had two men, with a horse and Wagon, a heavy 

wagoa, brought up. I think he stood on the street at the 

time. And he put one of his other' men to lead one horse 

and I the other, and we sat in the, hind part of the wagons 

to lead the horses, and started for the boat. 

q Still another horse was hitched up to the traps 

and the others were led behind? A , Yes; the two horses. that 



bought, were leading behind, with  a halter. 

q And you all started off for the boat? A Yee. 

I hadn't got a block before I say', that there was esnppg 

the matter with the gray horse. 

MR. MORGAN: Well, now, I object to this if your 

Honor please, and move to .st.rik4it ou 

THE COURT: The motion is denied. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

BY MR. Han: 

Q Now, what did you see the gray horse doing A Well, 

his wind was about gone. He acted as if he couldn't 

and I didn't say anything at that moment-. 

MR. MORGAN': I object, and I move to strike t 

out, as a mere opinion of this witness. 

MR. HOWE: No; I think that is a fair description 

of the horses action, if your Honor please which he says 

he saw at that time. 

THE COURT: He is giving his impression of the 

action of the horse at the time. You can contradict 

it if you like. Anyone can say whether a horse can 

go or not. It does not require an expert to testify 

to that. 

THE WITNESS: I can swear that his wind bothered 

him so much--

THE COURT: No, no. Strike that out. If I see that 



a horse is in trouble, and cannot :move well, 

that much about hint, without giving any exPe*t. 

On the subject. 

MR. MORGAN: Bit he...has not qualified as an 

your Honor, to give any opinion whatever. 

THE COURT: No, he As not testifying as a* eXpe: 

He is giving a layman's impression of the appearance 

conduct of the horse at the time, And you may ereiaS 

examine him as to the accuracy of his description Of  
horse at that time. Objection overruled. 

MR. MORGAN:* Exception. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Go on, Mr. Smith? A ,And we went a little bit birth:ars', 

part of a block, and the horse was short of minds and 

couldn't get his breath, and was just ready to fall doWno 

MR. MORGAN: Now, T Ask that that be stricken Onto. 

MR. HOWE: And I object to having it stricken out. 

BY THE COURT: 

q well, just state what took place, and not your Opinion 

of the horse. What did you do? A Well, the horse couldn't 

go any further. 

MR. MORGAN: I °Neat% to that as the opinion of the 

witness. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. I have stricken 

out, that he was short of wind. 



MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

(Answer continued) And we couldn't 

I said to the man--

MR. MORGAN: Objected to. 

in the absence of the defendan 

THE COURT: Objection sustains 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Now right there, Mr. Smith, you stopped4 

A Yes, sir. 

Were you leading the horse at the time? _A 

Q, What was he doing At the time he stopped? 

trying to get his breath, 

MR. MORGAN: I object to: that, and .4Soire tO 

it out. 

THE COURT: Objection'oustained. ...1n*UgeT 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q, Now state what he looked like. What was be 40 

not what he was trying to do? That was e.. doing? A 

he was standing right Still, with his -feet braced right 012W 

(illustrating), and wouldn't go any further. 

q well, did you notice whether Cr not he was breAihig 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Well, now what did you notice about his 

A That he was heaving. 

Q, Tflaving, A Couldn't get sufficient wind. 



4,'"41,07,44wrmaievic 

MA. MDRGAN: 

‘.! 

object to that if .your 'Honor please. 

The witness is not qualified sofar to OP 

THE COURT: I will strike out the last an 

BY MR. HOWE: 

(;), He was heaving? A Yes, sir. 

Q Well; how was he heaving? A Well, his tifl'sWaB 

moving, and his nostrils was extended. And I have seen 

horses before that was heaving. 

MR. MORGAN: I object to the last 

answer, and move that it be stricken out., 

THE COURT: Objection sustained: Motion granted.. 

BY MR. 
HOWE(;),
 Well, we will not get to that for a moment: I want 

you to give me the best description that You can of what that 

horse looked like, and was doing, at the time you stopped 

there. Now give me the best description you can? A  Well--

q You say he was standing therewith his legs out, and 

he was heaving? A Yes; he was trying t 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to, 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Well, how. hard was he heaifing? A Well, he was heav-

ing real hard, that is, he couldn't get wind enough to go . 

any further, I thought. 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to. 



.1 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

MR, MORGAN: Exception. 

Q You say you thought the horse couldn't go any 

further? 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

MR, MORGAN: .Exceptioh4 

. A Yes, sir. 

q Now, what did you do therf,when this horse couldni 

go any further. 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to, . 

MR. HOWE: Question with.  

Q Well, how far had you gotten from the. stable then? 

A Well, I think in the neighborhood of three blocks 

that distance* 7 
q And then what did you do? A I. handed the halter to 

the man, and told him to try to get him back to the stables 

Q No, I dontt want that. I consent that that be strick-

en out. That did you do? A I handed the man the rope, and 

took the other horse. 

Q And what did you do then? A Went on with the other 

one. 

(1 On foot or in the rig? A I went on, on foot. 

Q You got out of the wagon, and went on, leading the 

bay horse by the halter? A Yes. 



A And when did you next see the gray horse which you 

left there with the man, how many daya 4ater?Clit 

days I think. 

Q And where did you see that gray horse? A ITI the 

stable of Fleckenheimer. 

What did you dd with the bay horse? A Took.him o 

the boat. 

Q And took him to Coll spring? A. Shipped him to 

Cold Spring. 

9, Have you got that bay now? A No, sir. 

How long did you keep that bar A Until the. 7th of 

this April. 

Q Now when did you next see the defendant? Toti 1eft 

the defendant there, at the stables when you drove off. When 

did you see him next? A The following Monday, I thinks the 

31st of August. 

Q Now, before we go on to there, what is Your occupation?  

A I own two farms, farming,  and I sell a few horses and a SOW 

Q. well, how many horses do you think that. you have• 

bought and sold in your wholelife? A I wouldn't like to say. 

Tell, give me some idea. Have you 'bought and sold 

three horses and cows? A Yes, 

Q, Or 5000? A Ohl no, sir, 

BY TEX COURT: 

Q would you say 100? A Yes, I would say that. I would 



say at a rough. estimate, I have sold maybe five or•s 

Q And have you bought and sold other animals? A Tea; 

I sell cattle of all kinds. 

9, Have you seen horses with the heives?-. A I have. 

Q, Many of them? A A good many. 

Q And do you know what the symptOms of the.heaves arc? 

A Yes; some of them. 

Q How long have you been in the horse business, or 

3g 
long have you traded in horses? A Ever since WAS 21. 

Q How. long have you 114070d'inCOld spring? A Al]. 

life, with the exception of a fecv,MOnths ata 
4 . 

Q And how long have you been a farmer?: A. Al]. my lire.' 

Q This gray horse, at the time you,left him, or when you 

say he couldn't go any further, that gray horse in your 

opinion, did he have the heaves? A He did:. 

MR. MORGAN: I object. Well I will withdraw the 

objection. 

THE WITNESS: Or some other similar wind trouble. 

BY R. HOWE: 

Q, What? A He had the heaves; or some other similar 

trouble that badly affected his wind. 

Q, 

Q, 

Weill was his wind badly affected? A It was. )0 
well; now did you believe--did you rely dn the , 

defendant's representation to you that that horse was sound 



MR. )(MICR: I object to.that, if the Courtl3ette$4, 

In the first place, it is leading and it calls for•a-

corlusion, and it isn't in proper form, and is immaterial 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception,. 

A I did.. 

BY MR. HOVE: , 

And,r9:y4T4Lon that representation, did you give the 

defendant five dollars and your check for $105? A yes sir. 

Q Is this the check that you gave 

(indicating)? •A Yes, sir. 

Q At the time that you gave the defendanIthe check, 

was there any endorsement on the back of the check? A NO, 

sir. 

That is your signature (indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

MR. HOVE: I offer this check. 

MR. MORGAN: No objection-. 

(It is admitted in evidence and marked People's 

—) 

BY MR. HOWE: 

sir. 

>791 
You say you came back, three /lays later? A Yes, 

Q Did you go to the stable where you had met the defendant? 

A I did. 



stable is in the City and County Of New York4 

It not? A Yes, sir. 

q NOW, did you see Officernyn that day A I did.. 

Q Hut did you see Officer Flynn) beforeor after you 

arrived at the stable? A Before I 
- 

Q You made a communication. to 

sir. 

sir. 

went into the stable. 

Officer Flynn? A Yes, 

Q Now, did you see Fleckenheimer at the stable? A Test 

Q Now, what happened there, that day, in PleckenheiMerI4 

presence? 

said? 

What did he do and what did:You do and what waS 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to 

THE COURT': Allowed. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

A Well, I had the officer to 

as before. 

come with. mestated my eaSke, 

and asked him to go to the stable with me and he went with 

me. 

And I saw Mr. Fleckenheimeri and told him that the horse 

wasn't as represented, and asked him to give me my money 

back, and he said, "You won't get your money, and I said, 

"Well, give me my horsey' and he said, 'There is six _ 

keep on that horse," and 

days keep, six dollars 

I said "That's pretty steep for three 

aftexnking perhaps 30 

seconds, I offered him six dollars. 



You produced six dollars there? A Yes; a five 

dollar bill and a one dollar bill, took it out of my we 

pocket (illustrating), and he refused to take it, and I 

"1 want my horse," and stepped into 

and bring' him out. 

Q Now wait a second. Did you see:, on that day, the sane 

the stall, to untie hi, 

horse, that you saw on August,*th? A Yes, sir. 

Q The same gray horse? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was it that horse that you approached? A Yes Sir. 

BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q And that was the horse you demanded back? A Tess 

sir. And, in the meantime, when:! first went.intO:the stablei 

the officer and I, there was an old gentleman just had 150413 

money out, counting it over, and when I asked Flooksidheimar 

for my horse, this old gentleman says --

MR. MORGAN: Now, one moment. However, go on. 

I donit object. 

A (Answer continued) And the old gentleman said, Melp 

my horse, and I am just paying' him the monemfor it. I 
---____ 
bought it." And the officer said to him, "That horse is 

this man's horse," putting his hand on me, "Put your money 

in your pocket," and the old man put the money back in his 

pocket, and I didn't Bee what became of him after that. 
take 

And vleckenheimer wouldn't 0, the money, when I offered 

it, and I was going to drop it on the floor, but I put it bask 
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my pocket, and stepped up to untie my horse, and he come 

up in the stall by mel and caught me by this ars, I think, 

the right arm (indicating), and jerked me out of the stall, 

And then the officer said NWell if you won't let him have 

his horse or his money, you will have go with m 

he arrested him, and took him to the station' house Where 

made a cliarge against him. 

(I Now you know Judge Southard' who was called as a wit.. 

ness here yesterday? A Yes, sir. 

q He is your attorney? A Yes, sir. 

Did you, when you were in company  with Judge Southard, 

see this defendant, on the 9th of this months April? 

sir. 

Where? A At 65 Fifth avenue, I think it 14h 

0 Here in New York City? A Yes, The rude bat 

business there. 

q Well, was anybody else there? Did anybody else co* 

with Pleckenheimer? A Yes, there was another  man With 

q Now will you state please4 what was said and done, 

that interview, when the defendant was present? 

MR. MORGAN: I object if your Honor gene 

ME COURT: Only give what was sai4 end:(10 

cerning this horse, this transact10440. -Object 

MR. moRGAN: liception4 

BY MR. HOWE: 



17. 

Q Now, that was said and done there 

the defendant? 

MR. MORGAN:' Objected to. 

THE COURT: Overruled. . 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

A Pleckenheimer wanted to pay ma back MY 

penses. 

Q Did he say so? A Yes, sir. 

BY Da COURT: 

q What words did he use? A ES said he wanted to 

straighten the business up; that, if he had knew / 

dealer in horses, he would never have fOoled met 

n the press 

that he wanted to pay my money and expenses, and  t 44. 

and I -- well, Southard always:Aleea)my business, and t let 

him do the talking. I.didnit say =ohs 

BY MR. HOVE: 

. q Well, let us have the conversation. That oloon*Any, 

thing that was said there in the presence of the defendants 

A Well, Southard and Fleckenheimar and the other Man figurod 

up $110, and asked ma about What my axpenSea would be, and I 

roughly estimated it at about $50, and they figured up $110 

and $50 would be $1601 and they said they would go and get 

the money, and give me the $160. 

ci Who said that? A Pleckenheimer. And they said 

they would be back in half an hour or so • Well, / was on 



, 

some other. 'business here, and / went down to WashIngtcIsrkej, 

to do some business, and I couldn't be beck in the  hal. hour-.. 

So I telephoned to Southard. that I ,cOuldnit be hack. 

Q Well, wait. Did you go back in half an hour? 

A No, sir. 

Q Did you get $160? A Yes. 

Q And you got that from Judge Southard? A Yee. 

Q Now was there any talk there about this gray horse? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Well what, if anything, did you say to the defendant 

about the gray horse, and what did the defendant PleCkenheimor 

say to you? 

MR. MORGAN: That's under my objection, if yoUr' 

please. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

A He said, "If I had knew you were  a miler in horee#4 

would never have tried tc work  you. Bring no dawn Ban, 

tomers, ahd I'll give you $25 apiece,"and'I said, Men WOuId 

I get my money?" And he said, "Just as soon as I get the 

dough." 

And we were all talking, and Fleckenheimer said, eft Aro 

all thieves," and I said, "What was the matter with that 

gray horse, any way, Fleckhnheimer? EA looked all right iihan, 

you led him out to me," and he said, "Well, that's a trio* 



,..reopeovekuk. 4WW0sgmftip  

horse. 

3 

He's got a tube in'his throat. You didnet see that. 
 e-

And, when When he goes a little way he'll fall down, ands when. 

they come back with the horse, I don t give them themoney, 8114 

they go away disgusted." That's what he told me in the preset' 

of Southard. 

Q Well, What did you say about that time? A Well, 

couldn't say much. 

q Well, did you say anything about sponges? A I asked 

him -- When I asked him What was the matter with that horse, , 

I said, "Did you have sponges up his nose, or something like 

that?" -- I had heard of that -- and he said, "Na; he had a 

tube up in his throat. That beats sponges." 

BY TiE FORMAN: 

q At the time you purchased this gray horse, did You 

trot him around, or did he? A He didn't trot him. He juts 

led him out on he floor for me to look at Um. 

Q, Did you examine him? A Well, just looked him over. 

He didn't stir him up, so that you could notice him heaving. 

I took this fellow to be an honest man, and took his word. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Did the defendant say whether or not he had that gray 

horse still? A Yes, air; he said he had him yet. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q Mr. Smith, you deal quite extensively in horses up 

in your neighborhood, do you not? You are engaged in buying 



and selling horses? A Well, I buy and sell son 

very extensively. 

Q Well, the place where you *live. doesn't silo* you to be 

very extensive, but you are as extensive as you can be in the 

place where you live? A Why', I try to sell all. the horse* 

can. 

9, And you say you have been engaged in the horse business 

since you/re 21, buying and selling horses? - A More or lees* 

A Q More or less? A Yes, sir. 

Q well, is it more more, or lees less? A Well, I 

generally sell every year more. My business has increased a 

little. 

Q And are you also engaged in auction sales of ho a* 

are you not? A I sometimes have little sales, yes. 

Q Now this paper which 1.1:told in my hand (indicating), 

do you recognize it as the advertisement of one of your sales, 

up there? A I was the partner of another man that had. sales 

there. 

Q Mr. Leonard J. Cox? A, Yes, sir. 

Q And how often did you have those ,sales? A Well, I've 

had two little sales, counting this one, and / had one of my 

own, on my own hook. 

Q And you also buy cows, sheep and all kinds of live 

stock? This is your card, is it not (indicating)? A Yes, 

sir. 



Q, That is your card? A Yes, sir. 

MR. MORGAN: I offer this advertisement ind the card• 

in evidence, if your Honor please. 

MR. HART: No objection. 

THE COURT: Well, he admits that he buys and sell.i 

horses and other animals. HoWever, they may go int 

there is no objection. 

they admitted and marked Defendant's ibite 

'<----4r-  
C!2-7)--- ' 

BY MR. MORGAN: 
i 

Q Now you say you went to this defendantla place. by 
/f  ' 

virtue of seeing his adver sement in the paper? A Tee, 

I was in that neighborhood, and I went in. 

Q And you went to his place and examined the stock he 

had on hand? A Looked them over. 

Q Looked them over? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did you pick out this particular horse as the one , 

that you wanted to purchase? You selected that as your 

own selection; did you not? A Yes, after looking them 

over. He priced that one at near What I thought he las 

worth, more than any of the rest. 

Q And this horse was brought out on the floor of the 

stable? A Yes, sir; near the door. 

Q You had every opportunity to examine the horse, it 

that time; did you not? A Why, nobody hindered me from 



looking at him. 

Q Nobody prevented You from looking at his thoroughly 

or examining him thoroughly, as a trained bores n?: A IF 

he didn't let me trot him, or anything that I could see Ida. 

cl Did you ask him to let you trot hie A Yes, I 

asked him to put a boy on him,and trot him in the street, 

so that I could see him trot. 

Q And wbat did he say? A Re said he  at 

there. 

Q When did you first see the horse? A on the 27th 

of August, sometime before 12 o'clock, before dinner time. 

Q When was the horse actually turned over to yo 

A Well, the next day, in the afternoon. 

Q In the a ternoon? A Yes, sir. 

Q Between the time that you made the deposit of $5, and 

the time you got the horse, were you around the stable at 

all? A I was around the stable a few minutes after I had 

given the check and the bills, and then T IRS around the. 

next day, buying the bay horse, before they undertook to take 

him away. 
BY THE COURT: 

Well you never made a deposit of $5, did you? 

A The minute offered him $110, he took it, I give him $5. 

And then wrote out a cheek for the balance? A Tespeir. 

And then he tried to sell me some more horses, and I wouldn't 

buy any more, and then x wrote him out a check for the $105. 



• 
• 

, 

But you didn,t give 6 on so6Ounts, 

sir. 

BY MR. MORGAN : 

A Yes, 

CL 

there, 

Now this check of $105, you gwweit on 

sir. 

Now you purchased this -- the next time 

You say you purchased the bay horse? A 

Q Por the consideration of $15? A. Yea* S 

the first instance, this defendant ilea 

eipt imply dealing with the gray horse trsnssetio 

es. 
• 

Q But when you purchased the other, the.bay 

he took up his first receipt, and gave you, a revel -

both? A Yes, sir. 

Q Both of the horses? A Yes, sir. 

tt Now who las it that vas driving with you tia. 

ferry, at the time you claim the horse stopped? A 

know his name. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q There were two men? A One man to do the driT 

and the other to help me lead the horses. 

BY MR. MORGAN: 

(I Now you say that in the conversation With yo 

you say that the defendant claimed that thinAms 1114 

horse, and that some tube had been put into his threat; 



correct A He told me, "There Me 

.dayyou bought  him  but  you didnst Bee it, 

Q in other words, his statement to 70

was that there was nothing wrong with the horse 

that something had been done to make him breathe t 

A No, sir. I asked him what was the matter Wit 

that day, that I couldn't move him, .and he said, 

a tube in his throat that you couldn't 'met 

when you began to exercise him, he couidnot get 

and it dropped down." 

Q Well then something was done to make him look not 

sound, though he was sound? A 

that. I thought he had the heaves. 

in the throat. 

Q But he said What was the,matter with VILO'..b4[ 

that some tube had been put in his throat to make hint bre$t 

in this peculiar way? 

MR. HOWE: Now, I object to the question. Tk 

has answered as to What was said. 

T17 COURT: Allowed. 

A He told me that. 

Q And since that time you have never examin ,tbat hor* 

to see Whether he was sound at the time of the ea 

have you? A No, sir. 

Q, And before that you didnIt =inane 



A 

he was sound or no did you? You .say you 'itt 

statement pUrelY and aiMPly? A yes, siri 

was sound in wind. 

q And so that you don 't know personally et 

horse was sound or not at that  time; do You? 

he wa an t sound. His telling se' that he bad the tu 

throat didn't alter my opinion. to the best of my 0, 

When I moved that horse on the -street, he was wind 

in the worst 

q Now you never examined him  than? A No, 

Q And never examined him ,since? A No, sir* 

Q Now you sent up, you say, and demanded the 

the time that the policeman, Flynn, was with you, k 

q Claimed it as your property at that UMW 

sir. 
!' 7 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOVE: 

Oh, Mr. Smith, on last Good Friday, the 9t11, •meet 

anything said about the bay horse that you got? A 14434 he 

wanted to buy the bay horse off me. 

Well, *hat did he say on that subject, A Ile said 

that he was another one of his trick horses, and that ke 

would give me 400 for him back; he would go up to 4014 

Spring, and if he was fat and in good condition, IMOW00.4: 

me $100 for him. And that horse, When we hooked Met: $0 

load, he wouldn't pull; he wouldn't pull, he wouldn't 



BY NR• MORGAN 

tt ghat becalm of that horse? A r id 

day, at that suction. 

Q For how much?, A $ 

Q Now what did you represent him to b When 

him? A I sold him at the end of the halter, Wit 

•Q But you sold him and got $47 cash? A !.O. 

Q You never undertook to return it to this. 

defendant? A No, sir. 

Or to claim that there, was any falee reproSeititi 

about that horse, and you wanted your money back; 
' 

A Why, he h ad one of them, and he wouldn't give .me 

for that one back, and there was no need Of a0 

other. 

SANUEL HERTZOG, awitneeecalledonbsb 

the People, being duly sworn, testified as fOild 

MR. HOVE: If the Court please, this witness. 

German. He also speaks some lengliiihi but ta..  

sure we would go ahead faster, if we had. an tnterpt. 

THE COURT: Well, the interpreter is buey-ip aadt 

part. I believe there is only one German interpri 

MR. HOWE: If your Honor please, Nr.. 4i41034 

is associated with Ur. Morgan, is here, and ha: says 

speaks German, and I have no objection to his.liderpr 



ihe unt1:1,re_q#n get the regular interpreter. 

THE COURT: Well, perhaps we had batter Wei 

the regular interpreter. 

MR. HOVE: Well, if your Honor please, both sides' 

have no objection to Dr. Stern acting as interpreter 

he expresses his willingness to serve. 

THE COURT: Then let him act. 

(Ds.. Jacob L. Stern is sworn as interpreter, and th 

witness was eximined through the interpreter). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Where do you live Mr. Hartzog? A Ifinthrop, Connect.. 

tout. 

Town. 

Q That  near Saybrook; is it not? A 

Q What's your business? A I have a farm. 

Q And how long have you been a farmer at Winthrop,  Con-

necticut? A yext September it will be two years. 

Q Do you know this defendant, Herman Fleokenheimer? 

A I've known him before, only through the advertisement in 

the paper; I heard of him that way, and then became acquaint-

ed with him through the transaction in buying a horse. 

Q, when did you 'see this defendant? A I can't say the 

day exactly. The end of August. 

Q At the end of August of What year? A In the year 

1907. 



t • 

_ •••• 

Q Where was it that'you 'saw the defend= 9 A 

.95th street. 

In the city and county of New York? A Yea 

(1 You say you saw an advertisement in the paper? 

A Yes, sir. 

(1, And you vent to the stable in response to that adver. 

tisement, and there you saw the defendant? A Yes sir. 

Now will you state What you said to the defendant and 

what the defendant said to you, and what you did there at that 

stable, on the 27th day of August 1907? 

I. MORGAN: Now, that's objected to. It's a year 

before this transaction, and it is objected toes im-

material, irrelevant and incompetent. And if your 

Honor has any doubt upon it am so 

THE COURT: I will overrule the objection. 

MR, MORGAN: Your Honor mill not listen to an argu-

ment on the subject? 

THE COURT: It is not necessary. 

MR. MORGAN: I take an exception:. 

THE COURT: We will strike out the testiaoftytif it 

is not in reference to the purchase and sale of horses. 

MR. VORGAY: A year before this transaction? 

TEE COURT: Yes, in the ease place of bueinees. It 

is alloved merely to prove the intent of the defendant. 

MR. HOWE: It is in that class of evidence that I 
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put it, Wien I offer it, sir. - 

• MR HORGAN: Will your Honor note my‘cm ption? 

THE COURT: yes. 

A I told him I came in consequence of the advertisement, 

I wanted to buy a horse. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

q Go ahead. A I then went into the stable and looked 

• at the horses, and one of them pleased me, and / bought it from. 

him. 

Q What color was that horse? A A black 'horse* 

q What did the defendant say to you about that borne? 

A Re said it was a very good horse and had been OnLy Unhitched' 

half an hour ago, and be praised it very highly, that it WSW 

a good horse. 

Q Well, What was the price agreed upon -for that horse, 

please? A He asked $125, but i offered him $100, and he 

agreed. 

R. MORGAN: Now, object to thii further, If 

the Court please, on the ground that it was a oontraot In 

reference to property over the value of $50, and Mould 

have been in writing. 

TEE COURT: ro, it was an immediate sale. That 

would be a valid defense to an action to enforce a 
not 

contract that was/1n writing. 

ISR. I/ORGAN: Exception. 



; - 

TEE COURT: This is merely offered to the jury for 

the purpose of showing the intent of this person, and 

• 
the general scheme of his business. 

MR. MORGAN: Yes, sir, understand. Win yOUr 

Honor allow me to mice this suggestion? It is true., 

. as far as it being an executed sale is concerned. 

that were the only question involved, there would be no 

writing necessary. But this witness is trying to read 

into the contract What was intended by the Statute of 

Frauds to prevent a verbal contract. 

TEE COURT: But the Statute of Frauds ill a defer's* 

to an action on contract; that is all. That doe* not 

apply to criminal cases. If you wish to have c contlict 

that you can enforce in a court of law, you: must have 

it drawn in accordance with the statute of frauds; that  

is all. But here is an allegation of an act tending 

to establish, it is claimed, s criminal intent a criminal 

scheme on the part of the defendant an act or trans-

action similar to the one with Which he is charged in the 

indictment. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q Did you pay him any money? A I gave him $25, the 

same evening, as mbney in hand, and we agreed that I would 

try out the horde, the next morning, and I would give his t14 

rest. 
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ci 'drat time was it that you made this bargain in the 

evening, as you say? What time in the evening was it, lame 

A Probably it was about seven o'clock in theueVenings 

Q Did you go back, the next der? Did you return, the 

next day? A Yes, sir, in the morning milky, I cane back; 

again, I went there. 

Q, And did you see the defendant? A Yes Ian T 

Q What time in the morning was it that you went there? 

A perhaps eight o'clock. 

Q Did you pay the defendant Pleokenheimer any money, 

that morning? A I paid him $75, and I vented the horsey -

Q Did you get any receipt for your money? A Yes, 

gave me a receipt. 

Q Is that the receipt he gave you (indicating)? 

A Yes, sir; that's the receipt. 

MR. HOWE: I now offer this receipt in evidence,. 

(It is admitted in evidence and marked PSOplooS 

Exhibi 3). 

MR. MORGAN: Of course, the same objection applies, 

your Honor, here? 

THE COURT: Yes. Objection overruled. 

MR. MORGAN: Exception. 

MR. HOWE: I think we can agree on a reading of 

this thing, if your Honor please. 



TIM COURT : " Before you translate it, a 

wrote that paper. 

BY MR. -ROWB: 

Q Who wrote that receipt? 4 He himself. 

R. ROVE: I will now read this: 

"New York, 28th A.  -- the abbreviation for A 

"1907. 

"Sold one black horse to Mr. Rertzog, for the ePlik of .  

$100. In fun payment. Morse is free of all 011400. 

If not suit, can be returned back in exchange money, 

In three days time. 

H. Pleckenheimer, 

304 95th street." 

BY R. HOWE: 

q Where was the horse to be kePt according to•tbe terms 

of your agreement during the three ' -trial? A I ,arranged 

with him - I told lnlin I had a tnd here, Who has a butter and 

egg store, and I was to take thehorse there, and he would try 

him out for me. 

Q Well, did you agree that you should keep the horse at 

this good friend's of yours during the three days? A There 

was no such agreement. If I had seen, the firet day, that 

the horse was good, I might have sent it homm to the country 

then. 

' • • 

Q, No, I asked you if you agreed with the defendant that 



You Should keep the horse at the butter and: Ogg 

for three days, for thetrial? A Yes. 

Q Now When was that arrangement made? was 

evening of the 27th or on the next day, *hen You Paid lhbA the 

*75? A Already in the evening that was agreed. 

Q Now, after you had paid 'him the halanee of $75, 

after you had gotten this receipt on the morning of the 28th 

of August, What happened? A After he had looked away the 

money, the defendant went back to his man, and told bin to, 

bring out the horse and harness it. 

Q And was it the same horse that you had seen 

out, the night before? A Yes, these= horse. 

Q was that horse hitched up? A Yes; 'that horse was 

hitched up. 

Q Now then just tell us What happened? A the firet 

thing he did, he laughed at me, and told me that he had more 

trouble with this horse than with  any twenty others. Then they 

brought the horse out, and hitched him up, and he said,  

drive up with you." Then he changed his mind, and be said, 

no. And there was a man there I don't know who he was 

possibly a neighbor -- and he said, "This man will go with 

you." 

Q Go ahead. A And then we went up in the wagon, and 

the other man took the lines, and we went to start to driving. 

The horse wouldn,t move from the spot. On the contrary, he 



•pUdhea back. 

Then I vent up to the wagon and took the horse by th 

harness, and led it with my hand about three or four houses 

away, about the length of three or four houses. 

that the horse couldn't bresthe.ey more, and turüed Min 

around, and went back to the stable. 

Q Well did you succeed in getting him back to the 

stable? A Oh, to the stable he went back. I. brought hilt 

back to the stable all right. 

Q Well then what happened, )Jr. Hertzog? A Then I told 

him, "What have you done? What kind of horse have you sold 

me? What shall I do? I want my money beck.* 

Q Well, what did he say? A 114 laU ed then at me, 

And there was another horse standing there, which certatoli 

was 30 years old, and worth about $15 and he said, You can 

have this one for $130." 

Q That you could have that horse, instead of the one 

that you had bought? A Yes, sir. 

cl Well then what happened? A And, seeing that nothing 

Then it seine 

was to be done there, and he was laughing at me, I went swiT 

to a friend, for advice as to what I might do. 

Q And did you go back with your friend? A T then same 

beck with my friend, Nartin Kratsch, and the defendant was 

standing outside of the stable, and, When he saw us easing 

MR. MORGAN: I object to that. 



TEE COURT: Objection sustained*, 

BY 21}1. WiNVE: 

Q 'Now, When you came there, What did the 

A He ran in,  end locked 'himself into his Offlo 

Q Did you have any talk with him after that!? 

was a man standing there, and r asked hi !here 

And he said, "The boss isn't here, and i said 411* 

him go in there." 

Q Well, did you have any talk with the defendant 

While, after that? A Ur. Krstsch then came there, and 

him he might come out. 

Q What was that? Please repeat that, Mr* 

A Then he cam out, and Mr. Kratsch said, to him, 

you mean by doing this, to sell this man that kind •0 

And he laughed again, and insulted Mr" Kratedh. 

Q Well, did you ask him for your money back Or for yo 

horse? A No, iwsnted my money. I didwt want the tultOW 

couldn't use it any wily. 

Q Well, have you since that time received either the 

horse or the money? A I've had nothing to dowpthls tines, 

and never Ep oke to him, except 

Q Now will you just ansiver that question. Nave yoU 

since that time received either your horse or your money? 

A No. 

Q.. Were you going to take that horse to use on your Ors 



at Winthrop Connecticut? A Yes; Iwanted to use 

myself on my farm. 

MR. MORGAN: Now, at this point, 

out all the evidence, if your onor please, 

timony of this witness, as immaterial, irrelØvair 

incompetent. This was a transaction absolut 

to the one on trial, and casts no light -Of ani. dui 

upon this case. 

THE COURT: Motion dented. 

MR. MORGAN: lxception. 

MR. ROWE: We will havt now the regular War 

Mr. Rosenthal, if your Honor please. 

TEE COURT: Well, pr. Stern might 

CROSS EXAMFATION BY MR. MORGAN: 

q You were a complainant in this court, wrong, 

growing out of the transaction that you speak Of? 

this court. 

Q In the General Sessions? 

MR. ROWE: I have no otjection to the question, 

it is pressed. 

A I ABS once before the Grand miry. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q You were once before the Grand Sire A 

MR. MORGAN: Let me see the indictment* 

MR. ROWE: Which indictment? 



MR4 MORGAN !' Tn thelierttOit 

• Hovm: Here it is. 

MR. MORGAN! I vent the ,originel. 

MR. HOVE: Oh I haven ,t got that.: 

copy. Mr. Gallagher, the counsel ae40 

of the indictment, No. 

the complainant. 

THE CLERK: Eere it is. 

MR. MORGAN: That's all. 

6.1,856., in *L•icit 

MICHAEL I'1GRISCB4 a witness called -an hOh*lt 

of the People, being duly scorn, testified 

DIRECT ECAMINATION BY MR. HOWE!' 

CI Where do you livq, Ur. ingriewo A college 

q Did you ever live in Connecticut? A Yes, sir; 

time ago. 

4 One time ago? A Yes, sir. 

4 What ves your occupation there? A I worked on A 

Q And Whose farm did you work on? A Ily father"ao 

MR. HOIE: Send for Mr. Ingrieeh the old MO,. 

q Where was that farm in Connecticut; is that your 

father (indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

Q This is your father; is it not? A Yee, air. 

4 Where was that farm? A In the town of Killingwert 

between Clinton and Madison. 



On the Shore Line, near the Shore Line Road 

the New Raven Railroad? A Tee. 

Q, Did you ever see this defendant here, Yleek 

A certainly i did. 

Q Where was it that ,you saw'Pleokenheisier? A 

street. 

Q In New York City? A In New York City. 

Q East or West 95th street? A East. 

Q, When was it that you saw himN*A It was in the month 

of April, but I can't exactly say When. In the first part 

Aull_5_11_111LYear. 

Q With wham did you go to that stable? A. With Ay tot 

Q With the old man Who just came to the rail here/ - 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Oh, did you see an advertisement? A Yes. 

advertiaetent in a paper, in the Morning Journal. 

Q Now *hat did you and your father have to do with the 

defendant there? A Well, we followed' his advertisement, and 

we went there, and wanted to buy some horses. 

UR. NORGAY: Now, I object to that, that it was the 

defendant's advertisement, and imOve to strike that out. 

TEE COURT: yes. Strike that out. 

BY TEE COURT: 

q You saw an advertisement? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Relating to what place? A To is, Mr Pleekedheimerts. 



4. 

j. , 

Referring to What place A A, 

I can't remember the number any more. 

Q And in answer to the advertisement 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, And who did you see there? A Mr. Pletke 

•,• 

• 41 

some foreman of his. 

BY MR. HOVE: 

q What time of day did you get there? A 

Q What time of the day, what hour? A Well. 

the morning, something around nine o'clock, or a 

o'clock. 

Q Well, did you see any horses there A 

did. 

Q. Well how many horses did you see? AL' 

exactly. There was quite same horses in that stelae. 

Q Well, did you and your father pick out any 

A Yes, sir; two horses. 

Q, What was the color of those two horses? 

R. MORGAN: Now, I object to thigi.as Incompetent'', 

Immaterial and irrelevant, if your Honor plesseolt 

to save time, if your Honor will allow it, twill aii7te 

now a general objection. 

THE COURT: I think you had better objeet-tO 

question. 

MR. VORGATH Then I object to it as twaatori$4 



Irrelevant and incompetent. 

TE7 COUMT: Objection overruled. 

ORGAN: Nrcept i on. 

BY MR. HOWE:, 

Q What color were the horses? 

and a gray horse. 

Q Well, was it a gray horse or a gray Mare? 

a mare. And the black horse was a- horee. 

a mare. 

Q And What price did you agree upon for the tare am 

the horse? A Well we offered $206 for the both hOraen: 
A 

And did he agree to take $200? A Yee, sir. 

Q And how much did you pay him then? A We paidAli* 

$60 deposit. 

Q Who pald'him that money? A My father. 

Q And was anything said as to when you were to pay the 

rest of the *200? A Yes, sir. That was Saturday, and on 

Monday I went over and got the horses, and paid 4140. 

q It was agreed on Saturday that you mere to pay the 

rest of the money on Monday? A Yes, sir; as soon as got the 

horses. 

Q Well, did you get a rebeipt, on Saturday, for your 

$60? A Yes, sir, I got it. 

Q Ts that the receipt you got ( indicating), on Saturday/ 

A Yes, sir; that's the receipt got. 



MR. MOVE: I offer this 

MR 1'ORGAN : The same objection, 

please. 

(It is admitt4d in evident's) 

MR. MORGAN:, Exceptton. 

(It is marked People's Aoki 

R. HOWE: I will read this to the 

"N.Y., April 11th, 08. 

Sold to Frank Ingriseh one team of horses 

blankets, for the mmn of $200. Paid $60 depoSit 

Balance $140 when taken away at 304 3cet 95th street. 

Both parties satisfied. Received payment. 

Herman Fleckenheimer, 

Frank Ingrisch." 

BY R. HOVE: 

Q Did you return, on Monday? A Yes retUrned 

on Monday morning. 

Was your father with you? A .Nol..dir, iwai 

Did you see the -defendant at the stable there? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Now What happened that morning, that Monday morning? 

Did you pay him any more money? A Yet, sir, I paid him the 

$140 down, the balance. 

Q Did you get a receipt? A Yes, Sir. 

q Is that it (indicating)? A Yea, sir. 

 - 



• emlik, .006, 

R. HOWE: I offer it in evidence, 

MR. MORGAN: I make the dame ()Wee 

to this paper. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

R. .MORGAIT: raw elation. 

Bahl 

(It t: mitted in evidence and Marked 

MR. HOWE: I will read this to t 

"yew York, April 13th, 08. 

Sold to Frank Ingrisoh one team of bmrseel 

for the sum of $200. Paid in tall. If hcises-

suit, can be exchanged at any time. Both 

fled to above agreement. Res. payment. 

H. Fleckenhetmer 

Frank Ingriseh." , 

THE WITNESS: That's my name on that 

BY R. HOWE: 

Well, did you sign that for your father? .A 

I just signed my name there. 

Q Well, who signed that, do you know/ (Indic*** 

A Yes; I signed that. 

CI, You signed your father's name there? A r 

thought that "loamy father's name. 

Q Your name is Mike Ingrisohl A Y00* O. 

q well, after you got this receipt, *Si 

- 



What happened there? A Re brought me 10 t 

the horses were standing, having paid the derx 

on Saturday. 

Q Well, did you see the horses that ytu 

on, on Saturday? A No, sir; theY sere different 

gether. 

Q Well, were they the same color? A Thg7 Were 

color, but they were not the same horses. 

MR. MORGAN: Now, if your Honor please, / WOO. 

the ground that there is absolutely no similerit 

the two transactions. 

MR. HOWE: I think Mr'. Morgan is a little 

in that objection. I will be only too glad to ii 

stricken out, if the stmilarity between the 

is not shown. 

THE COURT: Allowed for the present. 

NR. ?ORGAN: Exception. 

BY R. HOWE: 

Q Now What happened when you saw these differe 

A Yea, sir. And he said, "Them are the two horses t 

paid the deposit on, on Saturday," and T said, no. they 

different horses altogether. They are not the hDrOeS 

he said, "Ohl you are crazy," and said, *float al 

back." 

And i didn't take thehoreee out of the $tá1 



them to another men, and the foreman took the *hip, and ehemeo 

them out of the stable, and / didnot take theihornes MAW 

all until at the 99th street ferry. 

Q Now you paid a deposit, on Saturday,evinint* on 

gray mare and a black horse? A Yes, Air. 

On Monday, the defendant showed you a great 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Now did he show you a gray mare or a vayhorels, 

konday? A A gray horse. 
• 

Q You are sure about that? A Certainly, I am ears. 

about it 

Q Now did you take that gray horse and the blaec ho 

that he showed you, on Monday? A Yes., 

Q.. He showed them to you after you had paid hi* 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you take them away to Conneetieut? A I 

them over to College Point, to show.to my father. ' 

Q Did you bring them back? A Certainly. 

Q That mune day? A Yes, the same morning. 

Q Who came back with you then? A My father. 

Q And then what happened when you got batik tiliOri? 

A We saw the man 

Q You saw the defendant neekenheiser? A Yes. 

we brought them there, and told him to give tte the ri 

and he told me they were the right horse.* And he ea 

, 
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Y`Pu make muoh monkeydoodle business, you Won't 

OT:blanketwoff And AO I tied them to the1040001c4. 

to the statieLhOuse. 

ct And .did he dhow you, ,on that d the horseiV 

had paid the deposit On? A No, sir; they watn, 

day, when I want for the horses. 

Q Well, did you afterwards-itteither of 'no -horses 

that you paid the deposit on? A, Yee sir; :one of thim; 

the gray horse. 

Q Now *hat did you do With that gray horee?,: 

A We wanted to take the both 'horses. That MO after that day 

we had him pulled in, and we left for Connecticut. 

Now after you had him pulled in, YOU WatflO t4 get 

both horses? A Yes, sir; and hegave'Us the grey harts* but 

not the black one, and he said sio- he claimed that the blatik 

horse was no good for us, because it.wae wind broken. 

Q, And was that the black horse that you had paid the 

deposit on? A Yes, sir. . And so I hitched it op in the 

wagon, and the horse breathed hard to beat the band, and. 
• 

the horse was wind broken, to beat the band. 

Q Well, at did he do to keep you from taking the bleak 

horse? A He wouldn't give it to us. And, at the last, be 

claimed that VIBEI his wife's horse, and he darsent sell that 

horse. 

MR. MORGAR: Now, if the Court please, move to 



strike out the testinony,of this witness with referents 

to the transaction he is supposed to have had with  

defendant, on the ground that it is incompetent, i. 

terial and irrelevant, and it cantt be, even .under the 

widest stretch of the imagination, said to be included 

in the similar transaction rule. 

THE COURT: Well Perhaps my imagination is nano 

elastic than yours, but differ with you and I everrUle 

the •objection. 

MR. MORGAN: And I exeePt. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q You came back with your father? A Yes, sir. 

How long .after you first made the purchase of thee* 

horses; how many days? A How maw days? 

Yes. A Well, I am not quite Mire about it. 

think it is about a week. 

Q About a week or so afterwards? A I ain't sure about 

It. I think about that. 

Well, When you saw the defendant, When you and your 

father were there, you received two horses? A Yes, sir. 

0. They are now in your possession, are they? You. 

have them now; haven't you, these two horses you got from the 

defendant? A Yes, sir; but one of them eroaked. 

Yes, but so would people croak, sonatinas. 

MR. MORGAN: I move to strike that out. 



AA. 

tf" 

'7-7-7- prA-mn-AA A 

MR. HOWE: I object. 

THE COURT: Well, it is an answer to your quea 

I think. Motion denied. 

MR. MORGAN: brception. 

BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q Well, you got the two hor A Yes, sir. 

9, And that is your rec suet it that you gave 

(indicating)? A That's righ 

Q You seem to know the New York language pretty well.. 

You come down very often to ‘,,ew York from Connecticut? 

MR. HOWE: Well, I don't think that I WOU 

New York with that language. I think it i 

that is generally used throughout the country, 

A Well, I think they are the biggest horse thieves in we 

York, any way. 

BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q vow that Ms the receipt you gave at the 

received those two horses? A Yes, sir. 

mR. MORGAN: is there any objection t 

fer it in evidence. 

MR. HOWE: I have no objection at all. (It is 

admitted in evidence and marked Defendant's Exbib 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Who wrote that receipt? A Receipt? 

q Yes, who wrote it? A The lawyer, Mr. Henry Levy-* 



not he but the man working for 

q It was not the defendant who wrote the :r4011$, 

A No. 

MR. MORGAN: I will read it to the jury:;:.

"Received from Mr. H. Pleckenheimertw011i 

One black horse and one white :mare and s (10026 

harness. 

Frank Ingrisch. 

Mike Ingrisch." 

TEE COURT: What i a the date of it, of thereeeill4 

Mr. Howe? 

MR. HOWE: The receipt Is undated. 

- BY MR. MORGAN: 

Q I understood you, Mr. Witness, to 'say that this 

ceipt was given at the time that he gave you the pa 

horses, the last pair of horses? A Yes, sir. 

RE-DIRECT EKAMINATION BY MR. HOWE: 

ct Now, did you get -- Which was the black boras 

this receipt mentions? Is that the one that vas mlitd 

broken? A Yes, sir; that one was sure wind brokoN.t4o* 

But he didn,t claim it. He said that horse wait 

everything. 

Q, The black horse that you bought was mind brok 

A Yes, sir. 



BY TIM COURT: 

Q You never got that horse, the one that 

A No, sir; this is a different black hori3e. 

BY MR. How: 

And was this receipt even before or after 

defendant arrested? The defendant leletkenheimer was arre 

wasn't he? A Yes, sir. 

q yow did you CI gn that after Pleekenhetaar arm 

A Yes, sir; but he was out then. -

q He was out on bail? A Yes, sir,. 

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the Airy, 

now take a recess until 2 o'clock; and be y 

not to discuss this case among,yourselvea, and not. to 

allow any one to speak to you about it, and do not 00 

to any conclusion conoerning it until it is fiatai 

mitted to you for your determination. 



After reeees. 

FRANK C. 0.1,3 5, a witness called on behalf Of the 

People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOVE: 

CI Where do you live, Mr. Oles? A Spencertowm Colemb 
4 

County, New York. 

(1 And what is your occupation? Louder, please. 

A Well, miller, and feed business and farmer. 

ci Did you see the defendant here in New York? A Ye*, 

sir. 

What day and what month and whet Year? 

of September, 1907. 

Q• Where? A At his office. 

(4, And where was that? A In 95th street, I think. 

q 'rest 95th street? A Rest 96th street; $02 or 304. 

BY THE COURT: 

What kind of a building was it? 

stable. 

Q 

BY MR. 

Q 

Q 

A Well, a 

A stable? A Yes, sir. 

HOWE: 

Did you see any horses there? A Yes, sir. 

Did you pick out any horses? A 

Did you come to any agreement as to the pries with the 

low shed, 

defendant? A Yep, sir. 

Yes, sir. 

MR. MORGAN: I object to this, If the Court please, 



`Ifo74114.47;:—..77-474.C.7..7•••=1Z agog,. 

on the ground that it is immaterial, iirelows 

incompetent, and sheds no light upon the traria. 

. issue here. 

TEE COURT: objection overruled. 

out, unless connected. 

MR. MORGAE: Exception. 

A Yes; for a pair of iron grays. 

Q Did you pay any money on the 20th? A No, sir. 

Q, And what time of the day did you go there on th 

Morning or afternoon? A I think it was about noon, along 

about noon, the first day, the 20th. 

Q Well, the arrangement on the 20th. was that you 

out this pair of grays, and said you ftuld take 'thee 

A Yes, sir. 

Q was there a price fixed? A It was fixed at 

Q Did you return on the 21st? A Yes sir. 

Q The next day? A Yes., sir. 

Q, What time did you go back there, the next day, *Mit, 

Mr. Oles? A Well, afternoon some time. It might have been 

one or two o'clock; sometime 'around there. 

q That vas on the 21st? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see the defendant on that day? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you see those gray horses? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now tall ue what happened there, Mr. 01.0 A I wan 

in the stable 



5kild 
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MR . MORGAN: Your Honor understands, Of SOU?* 

that my objection applies to all this testimony? 

THE COURT: ves. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

CI, Go on, Mr. Oles. A He says, "Your horses have 

the gray team. Mr. Naylor bought th 

Q Did you see a man named Arthur Naylor there 

A Yes, sir; he was there when I vent there. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q The first time? A No, sir; the next day. And 

said, "All right. Let them go," and he said, "I have another 

on*, 

team here that I can sell you." 

BY MR. HOWE: 

q At that time, to be perfectly fair, you had not cOnl° 

eluded your bargain for the grays, the first doe A NO, Sir. 

And he said, "I have another team here, a bay and a gray that 

I'll sell you." And he had a young man there in the stable, 

and he went back -- Fleokehheimer went back in the ,office, and 

I asked the young man What he wanted for them, and be said, 

MR. HOWE: No, I consent to strike that out, what 

was said in the absence of the defendant. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

(I Did youcome to an agreement with Fleekenheimer as to 

the price of the hay end the gray? A Too. 



, levzw=77.-

Wha las it? 'A 4260. 

#4 And What were -the terms of the agreement? A, I Sas 

to pay 450 down, and have s week's trial. 

(4, And When was the balance to be paid? A Xi' the• 

horses proved satisfactory. 

Q If the horses proved satisfactory A Yes, sir. 

ct In a week? A In a week. The team I was to take 

home, and a man in there T hired to take it to the boat. 

Q, And you paid $501 did you? A Yes sir. 

cl And did you get a receipt? A Yes, sir. 

q Have you got' that receipt still? A Yes, sir. 

The receipt for the $50 down? A Yes, sirs 

CI Is that it (indicating a paper)? A Yes, sir. 

'Who mrote that; do you know/ A Rieman there, 

Fleckenheimer' s. 

Q Who signed it? A Well, I think this - 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Who signed it? A This man Fleekenheimer signed it, 

I think. 

UR. HOWE: I offer this in evidence. 

MR. MORGAN: Objected to, as before. 

TEE COURT: Objection overruled. 

R. MORGAN: Exception. 

(It i admitted in evidence and marked People's 

Exhibiy). 



-1177",7,171.74T(7-., 

MR. HOWE: I will read it: 

"N. Y., September 21, 1908. 

Sold to Mr. Oles one gray horse, one bay horooy• 

for the sum of $250. Paid $50 .deposit, 

within one week's time. Good workers, single, iambi 

Received payment. 

H. Pleckenhelmer." 

BY R. HOWE: 

ci Now, after you had given the $50 and gotten OA rew 

eipt, what happened then Mr. Oles? A Well,  We talk 

around there. Mr. Naylor was there. They lore talking *bout 

getting the team ready, and it was getting along tOya 

to take the team to the boat, and I gave this other stan 

Q Not the defendant? A Nei sir, the Other 14*13' 

take the team to the boat, and Mr. Naylor and T 

the same boat, and he said, "It's pretty near Una 

the boat. 

Q You had Naylor were to take your horses up 

boat? A Yes, sir. He says, "You can I t take these 

unless you pay down the rest of the ,money." 

Q He said that to you, the defendant? A 'Yu, 

Q The defendant said that vt0 you? A Yes, sly 

BY MR. UORGAN: 

Q Was it the defendant that said that to yot A• Us, 

sir. 



PleekenheimAr, the defendant? A Yes sir. 

BY MB. HOVE: 

Q Well, go on. A And we talked matters around, tint 

finally they wouldn't let us have the horses. When theI 

wouldn't s1•11. 

Q Now don't say they. •Say you moan? A Well, 

he wouldn't'. He said that the horses couldn't go out of the 

stable until the rest of the money was paid. 

'ct 'He said that the horses could not go out of 

until the rest of the money was paid? A Yes, sir. 

Q The defendant said that? A Yes, sir. 

Q And then What happened?. A Well, we Couldflt get 

horses, and we went down to Police peadquarters and COSto 

back. 

Q Did you ask for yoUr $50 back? A Yes sir; and I 

couldn't get back the $50- Or the horses. 

And then What did you do? A We vent down 'to Pollee 

Headquarters, and got a cummons for him. 

You got a summons for him, you think? A I think so. 

And went back to the stable, and Mr. Pleckenheimer was gone. 

Q You could not find Mr. Pleckenheimer? A No sir. 

Q And When next did you see Pleekenheimer? 'Where was he 

when you saw tlim next? A Well, I went with an officer, and 

arrested him. 

Q Were you present at the time the officer arrested him? 



A Yes, sir. 

Q And he wags taken to court, presume? A 

Q Have you gotten your horses or your $10? 

Q To this day? A No, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION: None. 

MR. MORGAN: Now, if. your Honor please, I MT* 

strike out all this testimony, on the ground thst it i 

immaterial, irrelevant and incompetent. Aeeording to 

the witness's theory, if your Honor please, his testimony 

was that he had agreed to pay $250 for a pair Of horSee., 

He had only paid $50 on that pair of horses, and the ion 

simply told him that he could not take the 'horses out of 

the stable until he paid the other 4200. 

THE COURT: re said he was to pay the tidth Vs 

understanding that he should have the horses for a. Week 

on trial. The receipt IS in evidence. 

MR. MORGAN: But the receipt doesn't so state. 

MR. HOWE: Here is the receipt, your Honor. It 

states that pretty plainly, I think. 

MR. !ORGAN: Of course, this defendant is not an 

expert writer. 

TRE COURT: r will deny the motion. 

ER. )ORGAN: Exception. 
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ARTHUR NAYLOR, awitn*ssealled 

the People, 'being duly sworn, teStifie 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROVE: 

Q, Nr. Naylor, where do you live A Colds 

nam County, New York. 

0,, What is your occupation? A Rool es 

a noe 

THE COURT: Speak out louder, 

must hear you. 

BY R. HOWE: 

Q Did you see this defendant in New York? :A Y* 

Q What day las that? A September 21st, 3.9 
, Q, At the same time, did you see a Mr. 010e 

C. Oles? A Yes, sir. 

Ct Where did you see the defendant? A 

91,th street. 

Q In a stable there? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see some horses there? A 

did. 

Did you bargain with the defendant for hol 

ER. MORGAE: I object to this, if your Eon 

as immaterial, irrelevant and luso:Teton 

TEE COURT: Objection overruled. 

MR. MORaAK: ticeeption. 

BY THE COURT: 

Eow did you happen to go to that 111010• 



see an advertisement in the Telegres4 

horses for sale. 

Q And you went there in answer to that 

A Yes, sir, I did. 

THE COURT: Now, go on. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Q And what horses did you pick out Mr. Ni 

A A pair of grays. 

Q And did you come to an agreement about the price 

the grays? A Yes; he agreed to Bell them to elk ft 

and T was to pay $70 down, and have a weekse trial. 

q And when was the balance to Pe paid? 

a trial of the horses, and they proved setlefee 

Q And did you pay down $70? A Yee r4 

took a receipt for it. 

Q Ts this the receipt (indicating)? A 

receipt; here. 

MR. HOWE: I offer it in evidence. 

MR. MORGAY: he same general objection, 

TEE COURT: Overruled. 

ER. kORGAN: Exception. 

(Iti. dmitted in evidence, ond, 
e' 

Exhib4 7) 

MR. HOWE: I will read it to the ilArY; 

^1.1. Y., September 2, 1907. 

Sold to Yr. A. Naylor one team of harlot* 

• 



blankets, for the sum of $300. Paid $70 depoeitf 

Balance $230 to be paid on one week's time. .leree-4 

clear of all Claims. Guaranteed to be an rig t 

workers. If not, can be returned to Herten •!leek 

er, 304 East 95th street." 

BY R. HOWE: 

Q Well, after you bad gotten that receipt what happened 

Mr. Yaylor? A After / got that receipt? 

Q Yes. A Well, Mr. Oles came along about that time.  

Well, tell us about that? A And Mr. Olen 'came along 

about that time and he wanted to buy a pair of horses, 

Mr. Fleokenheimer told me to malt until he got through With 

him, and I had my horses then ell prepared to take away, and 

so he went with Mt. Oles and they settled upon buying 4:0003kr 

team of horses, a gray and a baypor s bleak. 

And after he got the deal all made, be talked to not *bout 

sending them on the boat. I telephoned down to the Central 

Hudson, to see whether they could take the* up, that dilW 

(1 And you and Mr. Oles were to take up your bent4MtAnt 

the, same boat? A Yes, sir. And, after we get all prepared 

to take the horses to the boat, Mr. Pleekenheimer !ti st 

me have them, and said that he wanted me to pay the doe. 

And I said, "I told you at the start that I didn't lavrig 

all themoney mtth me, and, if you are not going to Wry- Ut 

Your agreement, let me have the $70 bask," and he retneeCt 
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de it* ond tt40t so isto in the afternoon that we Oonid It 

get the horses to the  boat in time. And I vent and Wasi 

policeMan about it and he told no 

q Never mind that. When he said that he wouldn't lair 

you have the horses without the $230 being paid down, what 

you say, finally? A I told him that I would be down, on US 

day, with the money, and I -had it in MY pocket, on the Ifsnitiqr 

following. And then his man wouldn't let me take then out 

Of the stall. 

MR. HOWE: I object to that what the man wouldn't 

• let him do. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. Strike that Ont.. 

BY MR. ROW: 

Q Well, did you see the horses on the •follogin$ 

A Yes, sir. 

Q But, on the 21st he refused to let you UV* the ha 

unless you paid the $23o down? A Yew, sir. 

BY TIM COURT: 
V 

Well, when d2id you next see the defendent, Pleckenheiv-

er? A I didn't see him again until he *se arrested. It 

must have been pretty nearly a week. I don't knoirjuat the 

date of that. 

Q A week later? A Will, pretty near that; 'hen I 

saw him uptown, in the court, in 121st street, I think. 

BY MR. HOWE: 

Have you ever received your $70 beck? A No, sir. 



Or have yoU ever gotten the horses, 

never got anything. He got 413, $?0', and  kept 

MR. HOWE: That ie all. 

R. MORGAN: No questions. I move to 

thi s testimony on the ground that it is Imma, 

irrelevant and incompetent. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 

HR. MORGAN: Exception. 

B. HOWE: The People rest. 

MR. MORGAN: Now, if your lionor please 

that your Honor dismiss this case, and direct t 

find the defendant not guilty, on the ground that 

has been no case made out in law i and to inotrUc 

to acquit the defendant on the ground that there 

not sufficient evidence to hold thie defendant for fur 

trial in this matter; and that there 18 4'°' on the 

ground that there is a reasonable doubt in this 40 

to the guilt of the prisoner, as matter of law, the eel no 

not having been sufficient to establieh any crime against 

him; that the. evidence does not dhow fact* euffielont 

to constitute a crime. 

THE COURT: The motion is denied. 

MR. VORGAN: Exception. Vay it please your Honor, 

and gentlemen of the jury opal 

THE COURT: Well, are you going to OMR up now, or 
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MR • MGM% I am going to sum up. We rest 

now. We rest on the People's case. 

ROWE: Didn't you want to put n that Ord' 

that sivertiseMent, Mr. Morgan? 

MR. MORGAN: Oh, yes, I would like to offer theta sow 

to reed them to the jury, these two mailbag ,of the 

defendant. 

MR. HOINE: No objection. And they may be conaidered 

as having been admitted and marked at theproper pa 

the testimony, When you referred to theme and 

in evidence. 

THE COURT: yes, they may be 

by counsel. 

(11r. Morgan reads the exhibits 

and B to jury). 

MR. MORGAN: Now, at this point, if Your Mier 

please, the defendant renews his motion to algid-OS, VP 

advise the jury to acquit on the grounds already Statid4 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 

ER. EORGAY: Exception. 

Defendant 't 



THE COURT'S CHARGE. 

MULCIUMN, J.: -

Gentlemen of the jury, 

. The defendant has been indicted 1) 

Jury of this county for the crime of grand larOin 

second degree, which, it is alleged, was eoMmitted 

lows: That, at the Borough of Manhattan, City and 

County of New York, on the 27th day of August, 1908 Bev-

man Fleckenheimer, this defendant did feloniously, 

fraudulently and falsely pretend and represent to one 

Chester Smith that a certain horse which the said defend. 

ant was then offering for sale to the said Smith IMO. 

sound in wind, and that by reason of this fele* -rtioe 

tation and pretense the said defendant did then and lautril 

feloniously and fraudulently obtain from the posmeeeion 

of said Smith 4110, lawful money of the United ttatOs Of 

America, and that said *110 was the property Of Smith 

and that Fleckenheimer took this money from hint .fl 't 

way, with intent to deprive and defraud Smith or 

money, and of the use and benefit thereof, and to * 

propriate it to his own use, whereas in truth pald. 

fact, the said horse was not sound in wind, but oll Up 

sound and wind broken, and whereas, in truth and Avitaot, 

the pretenses and representations so made by the d 

to Smith were then and there false and untrue, 



the defendant et the time of making theci, knee US'S te 

be false and untrue;, and that, therefore :the Gra 

charged the defendant with stealingpy the means 

said, the said money of the complaining witness -S 

and that this act was done feloniously, and against $ 

form of the statute in such case made and provided. 

In order that you may be enabled to decide wbether 

or not the defendant has violated any law of thie State 

will briefly call your attention to the statute, Whit* 

hes been made by the legislature for the gulden.** and 

observance and protection of all the people of this Ste 

The crime of larceny is defined as follows: 

"A person whol.with intent to deprive or defra 

true owner of his property, or of the use and been 

thereof, or to appropriate the same to the use of the 

taker or any person other than the true owner, tette fro* 

the possession of the true owner, or obtaina.frum, sudh 

possession by color or aid of fraudulent or bate -MVO 

sentation or pretense, any money or property, steal:84U 

property, and is guilty of larceny." 

You will notice the elements of the statutes 

subject of the statute is personal property, and Chat the 

law forbids is the felonious taking of that propertY 

one person from another, the crime consisting In the 11:000 

tent, not an occidental taking, or a taking properly 404,0 
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der the forms of law, but a criminal or till° 

with a criminal intent, with a felonious 1.12t. 

or defraud the true Owner of his money, oak 

it to the use of the taker or any other perSOn 

true ouner. And then the means referred to i 

statute are, by means of fraudulent and false re 

tion or pretense. That combination of sets •and.ni 

stancei is what the law forbids, and to that combinatiOn 

it gives the name of the crime of larceny. 

Larceny is divided into degrees, according to the 40-, 

oumstances under which the taking is accomplished, Or the -

amount of theproperty taken; and, under the ciroulp. 

stances alleged in this indictment, if any Crime watt 

committed, it would be grand larceny in the eeeond 40A. 

gree, because the law says that the felonious tiking ot 

personal property worth more than $25, and less than $600. 

is grand larceny in the seconddegree. Therefore, if this 

defendant is guilty of any crime, it is the ArilliWOr 

grand larceny in the second degree 

You will keep the elements of the erimi in  

First, there must be a taking. Was there any 

proved in this case? Has it been,establtihed to your 

satisfaction that the money of the eamplainant *140 t 

by the defendant? If so, then the question likrieitit 

to whether there was a felonious intent in the teki 
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Whether it was 4 legal-'takingH r a felonie 

was it done withthe intent.to deprive thatt 

his property, and to aPpropriatelito the use 0 

and was it done, as charged in the indictment, 

of false or fraudulent representation or pretense? 

The false or iat be 

as set forth in the indictment,- namely, that a :Sett 

horse, then and there being for sale to the said Oh 

Smith, was sound in wind, mhereee-yin facti- the borne 

was not sound in wind; and *hOteee n feet thin state-

ment was known to the defendant At the time to:be 0004 

and that the complaining vitneee relied onthat state  

ment, and parted with his money on the faith Of that 

statement. In a charge of loiceny by false pretense, 

it is necessary to establish not 0417 that the alleged 

false statement was, in fact, false, but that it was 

known to the person who made it to be tales; that it 

was made with the felonious intent to deprive the true 

owner of his property; that the person who parted with 

his property relied on it, and acted on it in parting with 

his property; that that false pretense was the moving 

cause, the means by which the money or property passed 

from the powession of the true owner to the person Who 

made the false representation, with the intent of ob• 

taining it. You will have to find that all those 
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Rents are established, before you can ftel 

set forth in the indictment is proved. 

Now, you have been in court for some 

know the principles defining your dutieS an 

The fact that the,Grand Jury charges a man wi 

is, in itself, no evidence of crime. That it alma. 

action by a body Which hears only one side Of a case, 

and whose duty it is, When it 1,s convinced that the state,* 

Bents made before it are true, from What the grand jurors 

have a Chance to see, to determine that the person charged 

with crime should be brought to trial. It is 0 mere Step 

in the criminal procedure, and in consequence of that 
• 

indictment the defendant is arraigned here at the bar for 

trial. He has never been tried; he is on trial now. 

So that the use of the indictment is merely  to supply you  

with the charge and the elements of the charge. Iou have 

to keep that in mind. The question presented to you here 

Is Whether this indictment is true or false, Whether the 

defendant is guilty or not guilty as charged. 

The presumption on which the Ameriean,procedure is 

based is called the presumption of innocence. that means 

that the defendant is presumed to be innooent. Re is 

not obliged to establish his innocence; that is taken 

for granted, that is assumed to be true. That assUnption 

or presumption of innocence exists in his favor all thraRla 
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the trial, until you are satisfied by WV 

presumption is not true in his Case; tha 

being innocent, as the law assumes Mm to 

satisfied from the evidence that he is, into' 

The burden of proving that evidence is on 

State. The defendant is not obliged to efts 

nocence. The burden of establishing 

that the presumption does not existin this pertiaid* 

case, is on the State, organized society, who Makes% 

laws, through its representatives, for the protection 

and guidance of every member of society, every citizen 

or resident of this State, every person thin 

ders of the St e. Every person residing parM4A0 

temporarily in this state is protected by *heft 

and every one coming within the state is forbid en 

violate them; and there is no question of knowledge or 

ignorance of the law, because ignorance or the lavr is no 

excuse. Every man is presumed to know the law, and tket 

is an absolute presumption. 

The question for you to deside, therefore, is 

whether the State has met the burden 'Shish our low 10A 

poses upon it. The statute is explicit in $*3'tXIg Vast 

the evidence must be sufficient to satisfy you of  
guilt of the defendant beyond 8 reasonable doubt. 

Therefore the question arises 15 to Viblet Ile 
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by reasonable doubt. The terms exPletA thew 

Doubt means confusion or perplexity, or uncet4tA 

idea, of mind, and a reasonable doubt means reason* 

uncertainty, reasonable perOlexity, and is such $461.1 

as a reasonable man would properly entertelnuOtns 

the facts and circumstances of the ease. 

The term reasonable shows the .quality of mind thet 

juror must devote to the consideration of the evidence*: 

his reason... You must have neither prejudice aorta-as 

in a criminal case. You are not to decide the c$68 be. 

cause you do not like the complainant, or you do not 

like the defendant. You were sworn to consider o 

evidence. Your likes or dislikes are a matter of no 

consequence. You are sworn to take the lei, from the 

Court, and the Court has endeavored to tell you What-tke 

law is, and, Whether the Court is right or wrong, YoU 

must not question the law as laid down by the Court, be-

cause that is your oath, that you will take the law from 

the Court. 

Now, that means that you must take the Court's 

definition of larceny. You must not make your own derlaft 

tion of larceny. There is not a definition of larceny 

for a horse-dealer, and a different definition of larceny 

* , 
for a bond broker, or a clothing dealer, or a Merthant, 'o 

any kind of professional man. The definition of lareeny 
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is for every citiSen of ::the state, and 

In mind; and the question for you to decid 

or not the crime of larceny has been committS 

defendant, and you must determine that mpOWV1* 

duced by you from the evidence presented botOr. 

When it comes to the facts in the cote, yo4 ar 

sole judges. Your obligation as Jurors regOires yo 

bring Into the jury-box your best intalliganaalOro 

best judgment, your closest attention; just *hat you em-

ploy in the most important affairs of your ova Wel 

and, weighing the evidence in that shy, and watching th 

witnesses, and considering the evidence as it fa 

their lips, the question for you is, shot taproot 

makes upon.your minds. If it satisfiea you tO14.100, 

certainty, if it produces a firm conviction in your 

that the defendant did What the indictment 411*1e. 

with doing, it is then your duty to say so by * ye 

of guilty as charged; because then you have, no tow 

doubt; such a mind as that is made up; it 10 401A-. 

doubt, that is, not in reasonable doubt. . 

The law does not require that-every'trsset 

of doubt, that every possible doubt, should 1)0!, 

from your mind; for it is questionable WhOWIlar-11 

exists *here, in any phase of 'human 40; there is not 

room for a lurking doubt on any subject, OA tikOt 
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doubt. SUt-a reasonable doubt is one that is baeiVen 

reason, for which you 0011 44,00 a :reason, 'a donbtik 

a reasonable man would have under all the eireMitaneee 

of the case as developed by the eVidenca. 

If the evidence' faile to impress you to that 'Olt. n‘ 

if it fails to satisfy you, to oreate*::moi7e1 certainty 

in your mind that the defendant did as charged in .the 

indictment, then Your mind is inlk state Of reasOnabls 

doubt. The evidence must produce sore than suspicion 

on your mind that he is guilty. If it Merely Creates 4 

suspicion of guilt, no matter how strong that suspicion ' 

may be, or creates the thought that he is probably or 

possibly guilty, then the State has failed to builitain 

its burden, and the defendant JO entitled to the benefit 

of that doubt, for that is a reasonable doubt. 

The question for you to aidg yourselves, is them. 

fore, whether the defendant halvbeen shown, 'beyond reit', 

sonable doubt, to have represented to,:the complainant, 

Smith, that this horse was sound in wind; and, in the 

second place, whether the State has, shown that the horde 

was not sound in wind; in other words,, that the-reprea. 

se0ation made by the defendant was false., in fact; 

and, next, whether the defendant himself knee that ths_ 

horse was not sound in wind, was unsound; that he made 

that statement knowing that he was not stating the trutit, 
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knowing that the statement was untrue; and that it was 

not made accidentally or through ignorance, but knowing. 

ly, wilfully and feloniously, that is, with the felonious 

intent of deceiving the complainant and of taking from 

him his money, $110; and, nett, Whether the complainant 

believed that statement, was deceived by it, and parted 

with his money on the faith of that statement; or Whether 

he parted with his money for some other reason. Unless 

he parted with his money on acCount of that false pre-, 

tense, then the indictment fails. All these faets must 

be established to your satisfaction by the evidence; 

and then, if he parted with $f10 under all the circum-

stances charged, the offence of grand larceny in the 

second degree 'mould be complete. 

The evidence in this case is somewhat unus You 

have heard the evidence given by the complainant SS 110 

What happened to him in his dealings with the defendant, 

and the Court has allowed other peraoneto testify before 

you as to What happened to them in their transactions. with 

the defendant, and the Court, in ruling on the question 

of the admission of that testimony, did not pass upon the 

guilt or innocence of the defendant of the specific 

charge against him. • You are dealing with only one there* 

here, the charge that he , by false representations, waS 

guilty of larceny so far as the complaining witness, 
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• Chester Smith wee concerned, the larceny •of $110 *dm 

Chester Smith, on the 27th of August, 1908, and the 

reason Why the Court admitted the other evidence was 104 

to prove him guilty of this charge but to Show eriminel 

intent, which is an essential element in the *rime or 

larceny. 

In thisconnection I will call your attention to a 

statement of the Court of Appeals, in the case of the 

Peol4e against Peckens reported in the 183rd Few yin*, 

in discussing this question of the testimony of similar 

offences: 

"On the trial of an indictment for obtaining pro 

by false representations or pretenses —0 that is, such 

an indictment as we have before us Alm ow, "the allegation 

that they were made with an intent to defraud may be -

proved by transactions with ether parties Which temd. 

to dhow a fraudulent scheme to obtain property by devices 

similar to those practiced upon the complainant*‘" that 

is, if you believe that this complainant was cheated, 

that false representations or pretenses were me by the 

defendant, and that he relied upon them in parting with 

his money, if you are satisfied of that by the evidence, 

the intent may be proved by the other transactions 

"provided the dealings are sufficiently conneeted in 

point of time and character to authorize an inferense 



that the transaction was in pursuance of Vie 

purpose. Such representations may be pray! 

no property was obtained, Where the eVidenOS 

show that, at the time, the defendant was engS 

fraudulent transaction. While' this testimOiri 

admissible upon the question whether the alleged re 

tations were made --" that is, the testimOnY of thl 

other witnesses is not admitted to dhow that he 11144120; 

made representations to Smith, the complaining witorie 

in this case -- "it is admissible as tending to ehow 

a motive to obtain the property in pursuance of a general 

fraudulent scheme." 

The court of Appeals has, also, bald as folio 

this subject in the case of Watson vs. The P000.0, 

ported in the 87th New York: 

"When there is an absolute representation, 

and untrue and known to be such," that Is, if the 

fendant made a false representation hare, and knew it to 

be false -- "the purchaser has a right to rely upon 401 

I call your attention to this because the eotUleel 

referred to the maxim of the civil law, caveat captor* 

"let the buyer take otwe!* BUt it is not the *Ws  

criminal law, and a man who makes false representation*, 

knowingthem to be false, andOhe person to whom helank* 

them believes them to be true, and rallies upon the's- and. 
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parts with his money on that reliance, violates the  * 

the Court saying there very clearly wWhen there is 

absolute representation, false and untrue and known to 

be such --" that is, known to the maker of the represents.. 

tion -- "the purchaser of the property has a right to 

rely upon it." 

"Where a statement ismade " the Court proessda tO 

say, "as the evidence establiehee in the ease at bar 

that is, the case they were discussing ',that S torso 

is sound, kind and true and it is not apparent that it is  

not, and that immediately afterwards it  it 

was utterly worthless, broken -doss so as to be incapable 

of being delivered, a representation is Made *deb is 

capable of defrauding on itt'face,.. and the party is AO 

more bound to take out the horse 040:trY:hisit for the 

purpose of ascertaining whether the representation is  

true, than he would be to try any other article:of,persone 

property he is about to purchadet Which was apparently: 

whole and yet so defective that it might fall to Pio000 

upon being moved. He has a -tight to rely upon the re-0 

presentation, and common honesty and morality demand' 

that the fraudulent dealera should not' screen thanwalome 

by the excuse that the party could have. detested the 

fraud if he has not relied on the representation made 

That is the interpretation of this law by the bighemk,-



r..77F,77.12, 

Court of this State. Therefore, you are tOtn 

the evidence whether or not there were rePtlieeu 

made by the defendant to the complainant, 0 

not they %ere true, and whether or not 00 

this defendant to be untrue; :and, if you fin 

representations were made with the intent of .'4  

complainant of his property, h 6 $110, and that the 

plainant absolutely relied upon those representations, 

and parted with his money on the faith of them under 

the circumstances set forth in the indictment, you have

only one duty to Perform, and that is to soy that the 

defendant is guilty as charged. If You are net "t 

beyond a reasonable doubt upon every one oftheeelae 

It is likewise your duty to render a verdict of 60 

guilty, and give the defendant the benefit Of that 

sonable doubt. You are not dealing with the 

the wisdom of the law. You are to &sett* eel 

facts. Your reason will tell each one of you %tat Atkv 

pression the facts as he believes them wakes ,upon 
mind, and no one can tell you what to belieVe and, 

reject, for that is your sole duty. You are :04 

judges of the facts; and, if you believe.apYteOtts 

is for you to decide what tmpreaSiOn Wine fiketa 

your mind, and then your conftienee reguiree 

claim it, without any questift of *OW, er, 



r. 

are in sympathy with the 18w, Whether Or not Wou. grain 

sympathy with the complainant or the defendant. YOU 

have nothing .to do with sympathy, or with any queetion 

but an honest, earnest effort to find the tru 

thenyour conscience will let you know Whether 

proclaiming your impression of the evidence or not. 

Any requests Mr. Morgan? 

MR. )ORGAN' If your Honor please, I respectfully 

except to the portion of your Honor's Charge Wherein 

you read from the two decisions quoted. And / ask your 

Honor to charge the jury that the fact that the defendant 

did not take the stand should not be used against 

by them. 

THE COURT: so charge. 

MR. VORGAN: That's all, sir. 

MR. HART: No requests on the part of the District 

Attorney, sir. 

THE COURT: You may peas out, gentlemen. 

(The jury found the defendant guilty of grand larceny 

in the second degree, as charged in the indictment). 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Morgan? 

MR. MORGAN: Will your Honor remand the defendant, 

say, until Monday? I reserve my right to make the motions 

at that time, your Honor. 

THE COURT: i will remand him for a week. That Will 

be next Wednesday, the 21st. 
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